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and or common State Street/Henry Street Historic District _

2. Location______________ -
.tr«<«rua,b.r Multiple addresses___________________________________ n« W peMtctl.^

City, town Binghamton . vicinity of

state New York code 036 county Broome code 007

3. Classification
Category
X district

___ buildlng(s)
___ structure
___ site
__ object

Ownership
___ public
___ private
JLboth
Public Acquisition
NA in process 

___ being considered

Status
X occupied

__ unoccupied
___ work in progress
Accessible
_ yes: restricted

X yes: unrestricted 
___ ^"no

Present Use
___ agriculture
X commercial

___ educational
___ entertainment
X government 

industrial 
___ military

. museum 

.park

. private residence 

. religious 

. scientific 

. transportation 

. other:

4. Owner of Property
name Various

street & number

city, town . vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. County Clerk, Broome County Office Building.

street S number Governmental Complex. Hawley Street, 

.town Binghamton state New York

1985

depository for survey records nivl.qinri for Historic Preservation

citv. town Albany _______ __________
state New York

city, town ----------------------- ----- -------------------

6. Representation in Existing Surveys_________
Wl. New York Statewide Inventory h.. thi. pn,|»iy bwn *wm.l~d rtl»lM.7 —ye.

federal _X state ----- county ------ local



7. Description •

Condition
excellent deteriorated

Chock one
unaltered

Chock ono
X original site

NA___good
X fair

ruins
unexposed

X altered _ moved date

D«scrib« tiM pr«Mnt and original (if known) physical appearance

The State Street/Henry Street Historic District is situated several 
blocks north of Binghamton's central business district in an area long 
characterized by small manufacturing and commercial establishments. The 
district incorporates 20 contributing buildings, two non-contributing 
buildings and no structxjres or sites. The majority of the contributing 
buildings were built in une late nineteenth or early twentieth century for 
commercial purposes. All but two are built of brick with an average height 
of four stories.

The boundary of the historic district encloses the only concentration of 
historic buildings remaining between the central business district and the 
railroad terminal area to the north. Tlie district incorporates historic 
streetscapes primarily along State Street and Henry Street, and in plan forms 
a reversed, "L" The south boundary runs along Henry Street and separates 
the district from large parking lots and a modern shopping mall. Christ Churc 
(NR listed) at 187 Washington Street stands on a visually isolated lot, 
separated from the district by Henry Street to the north and parking lots to 
the east and west. The east boundary commences at 23 Henry Street and con­
tinues primarily along rear lot lines of State Street properties to the 
northern lot line of the State Armory (206-08 State Street), including an 
almost continuous block of intact commercial/industrial structures. Outside 
the district to the east are numerous small parking lots and small, non- 
historic buildings. The west boundary follows the rear lot lines of the intac 
buildings ,on the west side of State Street between Henry and Lewis Streets. 
Outside the district to the west is a lower density mix of commercial and 
residential structures, many of which are non-historic. The western leg of 
the district follows the curb and lot lines of the Henry Street buildings as 
far as Water Street and includes two adjacent structures which front on Water 
and Washington Streets respectively. West of this boundary is a large vacant 
block along the Chenango River. Large vacant lots and parking lots also lie 
to the north of the Water and Washington Street district buildings.

All but one of the district's twenty-two buildings are of masonry— 
primarily brick--construction. The oldest building in the district, at 201-03 
State Street, is of frame construction, originally with a clapboard facade.
One of the district's architectural focal points, the U.S. Post Office and 
Courthouse, at 15 Henry Street, features a limestone exterior.. Eighteen 
of the remaining structures have brick facades, many with stone or wood trim.
A few retain cast-iron storefronts such as the Republican Building at 23 Henr> 
Street and the industrial block at 215-17 State Street. Almost half of the 
buildings are four stories tall; most others are one to three stories. 
Approximately half of the contribuing buildings in the district were built 
between 1876 and 1900 with the remaining half dating from 1900 to 1935.
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The district originally supported a mix of industrial and commercial 
enterprises. The Hull-Grummond Building at 218-24 Water Street, for instance, 
housed a cigar manufacturing firm; the Republican Building at 23 Henry Street 
housed a newspaper; and the Brown Building at 217-19 Washington Street housed 
a t^hit and produce store. Three buildings in the district were constructed 
to house government facilities: the State Armory at 206-08 State Street, the
Araory Annex at 202-04 State Street and the Post Office and Courthouse at 
15 Henry Street. Today, many of the buildings function primarily as \varehouses 

with some office and commercial space. At least two have apartments on upper 
One of the buildings, the Post Office and Courthouse, retains 

government offices of federal agencies.

The greatest concentration of historic buildings within the historic 
district occurs along both sides of State Street between Henry and Lewis 
Streets. Many of these buildings illustrate variations of the Romanesque style 
commercial architecture of the 1880's and 1890's, particularly along the east 
side of the street. At the lower end of the street, no. 178, built c. 1890, 
illustrates a modest example of the type, featuring its original cast-iron 
storefront, round-arched upper story windows and corbelled cornice. The 
four-story building next door at no. 180 State Street, built c. 1890, is a 
particularly sophisticated example of the style, featuring cut stone’arches, 
a pedimeuted parapet and arabesque terra-cotta spandrels. No. 194-196, built 
in 1888, features a four-story, six-bay arcaded facade with cast-iron 
colonnettes at the first story and an extensively corbelled parapet, bearing 
the building's date of construction in raised niomerals. Adjacent and north 
is the former state armory complex at 202-208 State Street, built between 1881 
and 1891 and designed in a castellated Romanesque style featuring round and 
segmentally arched windows, corbelled towers and crenellated parapets.

The west side of State Street incorporates a modest frame store and 
apartment building at No. 201-203, which, despite the application of modern 
siding materials, retains the massing, fenestration and cornice detailing of 
its c. 1880 date of construction. This is followed by the unaltered facades of 
two four-story connnercial buildings built in 1913 and located at 205-213 State 
Street. These buildings retain their original storefronts and incorporate 
distinctive, continuously glazed second stories. The upper stories are built 

brick with a variety of rectangular, round and segmentally arched windows, 
with bays defined by pilasters and sheet metal cornices. The building north 
ot this row at 215-219 State Street, built c. 1890, is similar in scale and 
massing and detailed with its original cast-iron storefront, cut stone lintels 
and sills, and corbelled brick cornice. This is followed by a contributing 
single story commercial building at no. 221-223, built in 1928 and detailed 
with Neoclassical motifs executed in terra cotta. The block is anchored at 
the iiorth end by the six-story Gaylord Building and its attached garage at 
229-231 State Street, built in 1902-1904 in a modified Beaux-Arts style with 
Renaissance details and light and dark-colored brick banding.
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Buildings along the north side of Henry Street betweeii State and Water 
Streets reflect the entire period of significance for the historic district. 
Proceeding from east to west, the streetscape begins with the five-story 
Republican Building at No. 23, built in the Romanesque style in 1890. The 
facades features the arcading tjrpical of the style and a corner tower which 
rises to a sixta story but which has lost its pyramidal roof. A modern 
storefront has been applied to part of the original storefront; however, the 
original decorative cast-iron columns have survived the renovations. The 
monumental Federal Building and Courthouse at 15 Henry Street, (formerly the 
U.S. Post Office and Courthouse Building), was built in 1935 of smooth-faced 
limestone in a style inspired by the massing and symmetry of ifeoclassical 
architecture and detailed with a combination of classical and Art Deco motifs. 
Visible from Henry Street, but fronting upon Washington is the Queen Anne 
style four-story commercial building at 217-219 Washington built in 1887, 
featuring rock-faced stone impost blocks and lintels, elliptical brick 
relieving arches and an elaborate, finial-crowned parapet. At the west end, 
the district streetscape is anchored by three connected four and five-story 
buildings listed at 218-224 Water Street. The group begins with an extensively 
corbelled brick commercial building fronting upon Water Street and built in 
1886. The Neoclassical style brick and limestone buildings fronting upon 
Henry Street were built in 1906 and 1914 and continue the earlier tradition of 
masonry craftsmanship evident throughout the district.

The majority of the buildings that compose the State and Henry Streets 
Historic District are unified by a similarity of character, scale, material 
and detail. Additionally, several of the district's most outstanding 
structures are situated on corner lots and serve as architectural anchors as 
well as tangible boundary termination points: the Republican Building (23 Henry
Street) at the corner of Henry and State, the Gaylord Building (229-31 State 
Street) at the corner of Lewis and State, and the Hull-Grummond complex (at 
218-24 Water Street) at the corner of Water and Henry. Although several of the 
buildings have been altered, most alterations have been limited to first story 
facades and are reversible. Several outstanding structures have been 
sensitively rehabilitated for use as offices, residential units and a variety 
of commercial concerns. A description of each building withiii the historic 
district is included in the annotated list of structures which follows.
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Nos.
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172-176 State Street c. 1910

178 State Street C.1890

180 State Street c.1890

182-184 State Street 3 C.1900

5

6

186 State Street

192-194 State Street 5

c.1890

C.1915

196-200 State Street 6 c.1888

"V,

Description
Item 7 page 4’

Non-contributing single-story, brick/ 
concrete industrial/garage structure 
with stepped cornice and three bays. 
In 1948 openings were filled with glas: 
block and a hipped parapet with shingle 
was constructed.

Four-story, four-bay brick warehouse. 
The building features corbelled comic 
and a variety of window styles on the 
upper stories. The facade is in good 
condition, the first floor storefront 
has been boarded up, but retains its 
original structural framework.

Four-story, Romanesque style commercia 
building with cut stone arches, 
corbelled cornice^pedimented parapet 
and arabesque terra-cotta spandrels; 
Originally housed a provisions concern

Two-story commercial structure 
featuring round-arch doorways and a 
galvanized iron cornice. The brick 
parapet has been rebuilt and the rest 
of the building retains a high-degree 
of integrity.

Five-story four-bay brick warehouse 
with segmental and round-arched windowt

Two-story brick and concrete office 
building with rectangular window 
openings and molded metal cornice.

Four-story, brick Romanesque style 
industrial block. The building has 
remained virtually intact and its 
details include a richly corbelled 
parapet, six arcaded bays and cast-iro 
colonnettes. The building is currentl 
used for storage.
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Nos.

Date of 
Construction

Description

202-204 State Street 7

206-208 State Street 8

C.1890

C.1881

201-203 State Street 9

205-207 State Street 9

C.1880

C.1913

209-213 State Street 9 c.1913

215-219 State Street 10 c.1890

V;-

Tv70-story castellated Romanesque style 
armory building with round and s^piental- 
ly arched openings, corbelled parapets 
and crenellated tower.

Three-story, brick Romanesque style 
armory building with monitor roof, a 
tower with battlements and extensive 
brick corbelling. The building is 
largely intact but has suffered some 
first floor alterations.

Three-story frame commercial building 
with simple wooden cornice, altered 
storefront and aluminiam siding.

Four-story brick commercial building 
with intact storefront, continuously 
glazed second story, and round and 
rectangular upper story windows. Metal 
cornice bearing the name "A.L. Willey 
1913" in raised letters and nijmerals.

Four-story brick commercial building 
of nine bays in width with largely 
unaltered storefronts, continuously 
glazed second story and segmentally 
arched second story windows. Metal 
cornice.

Excellent example of late nineteenth 
century brick industrial/commercial 
block. The building is four stories 
in height and is separated into three 
structural bays. The structure once 
housed a scale vjorks and a candy factory 
(today used for storage). The facade 
is in good condition and the upper 
stories are highlighted with corbelled 
brickwork. Windows and doors on the 
first floor have been partially boarded 
over in recent years; however, the 
cast-iron columns remain intact.

: r--' ./S- '■ -,‘y
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Nos.

Date of 
Construction
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221-223 State Street 11 C.1928

229-231 State c.1902-1904

15 Henry Street C.1935

23 Henry Street C.1890

18

19

211 Washington 16
Street

217-219 Washington 15

C.1955

C.1887

Single-story, office and garage 
building with terra-cotta piers, 
entablature and a brick parapet with 
terra cotta-detailed panels. Openings 
altered with wood siding.

Six-story brick commercial building 
with stone-faced first story and upper 
stories faced in alternating light 
and dark color brick bands. ■ Segmental 
and rectangular v/indow openings with 
keystone details. Renaissance style 
corner entrance and metal cornice. 
Non-contributing single story garage 
attached at south side.

Three-story limestone building 
characterized by symmetrical facades 
and monvimental proportions. Its mass­
ing and details reflect the influence 
of the Neoclassical and Art Deco styles 
The building was originally constructed 
for use as the United States Post Office 
and Courthouse (now the Federal Bui 1 ding 
and Courthouse). The interior and 
exterior of the building are both in 
excellent condition.

Five-story, Romanesque style brick 
building with arcaded facades and 
partially altered first story. Six- 
story-high corner tower, partially 
dismantled in 1973.

Non-contributing former service station 
building.

Four-story Queen Anne style brick 
commercial building with rock-faced 
stone sills, lintels and impost blocks, 
elliptical brick relieving arches and 
a finialcrowned parapet. First 
occupancy recorded as John Brown Fruit 
and Produce Company.
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Nos.

Date of 
Construction

Description item / page /

20, 21,22 218-224 Water Street 17 1886-1914 A three-building complex originally 
occupied by the Hull-Grummond Cigar 
Company. First building (facing VJater 
Street) was built in 1886 with an 
elaborate corbelled brick facade four 
stories in height with a stepped 
parapet. Second four-story building 
(corner of Water and Henry Streets) 
was built in 1906 in a modified 
Neoclassical style with a rusticated 
limestone first story and brick upper 
stories with stone trim and a 
denticulated stone cornice. Third 
building (facing Henry Street) was 
built in 1914 and stands five stories 
in height with a stone-trimmed brick 
facade.
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8. Significance
Period
___prehistoric

 1400-1499 
1500-1599 
1600-1699 
1700-1799 

JL_1800-1899 
JL. 1900-

Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
----- archeology-prehistoric _ _ community planning

archeology-historic 
agriculture

-X_. architecture 
___art
___ commerce
___ communications

___conservation
___economics
___education
___engineering
___exploration/settlement
___industry

invention

----- landscape architecture.
___ law
----- literature
----- military
___music
----- philosophy
-----politics/government

religion 
. science 
. sculpture 
. social/ 
humanitarian 

. theater 

. transportation 

. other (specify)

Specific dates 1877-1935 Builder/Architect none known
Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The State Street/Henry Street Historic District is architecturally 
significant as an intact and cohesive enclave of commercial, industrial 
and institutional buildings built between 1877 and 1935, which reflects a 
period of growth and prosperity in Binghamton made possible by the 
expansion of rail transportation in the last quarter of the nineteenth 
century. Buildings in the historic district represent a cross-section 
of the city's historic manufacturing and commercial interests and 
illustrate,through significant and intact examples, historic architectural 
styles ranging from Romanesque to Art Deco. Overall, the district is 
characterized by a uniformity of scale and construction techniques, the 
survival of uninterrupted streetscapes from the period of significance, 
and by the high levels of architectural integrity present in the majority 
of its buildings.

The area encompassed by the boundaries of the historic district was 
initially organized around the Chenango Canal, which followed the present 
path of State Street. Constructed between 1833 and 1837, the canal was 
employed principally for the transportation of goods and people during 
a period prior to rail development. The canal was 97 m.iles long and linked 
Binghamton to Utica, New York, where the Erie Canal provided further 
regional access. It passed through such communities as Chenango Bridge, 
Greene, Norwich, Earlville, Eaton and Clinton, nearly following the 
course New York State Routes 12 and 12B follow today. The Susquehanna

Rivers had been used for transportation prior to the 1830's: 
York State Legislature had declared the Susquehanna a 

public highway" (Seward, v.l, p. 74). The canal, however, offered a 
much more regular and reliable transportation line. It strengthened 
Binghamton s position as the center of regional transportation and com­
merce and prompted further expansion in those directions. Access to 
the canal prompted farmers, for instance, to produce and export dairy 
products such as butter, which would have spoiled during longer journeys.

The location of the canal as well as the proximity of the downtown 
center served as the impetus for the initial development in and around 
the district. As early as 1847, Waring Weed built a flour mill at 
206-08 State Street where the State Armory was later built (Seward, v.2, 
p. 405). An 1866 map of the area indicates that a nxmaber of liveries and 
other frame structures were clustered around the canal while a variety 
of mills were located west of the historic district near the Chenango 
River. The 1873 Bird s Eye View of Binghamton shows further development



NPS Porm 10-9004 
<M2)

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

0M9 So. 1024-001$ 
Bxpirot 10-31-87

National Register of Historic Places 

Inventory—Nomination Form
State Street/Henry Street Historic District 

Continuation sheet Binghanton, Broome Co., NY Item number 8
Page

ipi >^etwee„^840 and 18fo^S''.lra

the E^e^R^ll?oad"iri'R4R”^® j-“ Binghamton with the arrival of

the imoeturfor entire canal was closed in 1877. This provided
this w^U establi^Lrcor“woJ°" ?L\raccefrp%“'i5ed°b?^ii^^l?reer
iS^facId ?hf a«Lr°^AA IsKf "ij® “"fbuildings which lined

SfbuUdL''“°h^ h' StreS!' In W9?\ardlplctr“"'
tremen^£eL"n “c^r^^S^^f t£f tLee^ ^ISir^Ss'^and
1891. The spurt of growth which took place here was consistenrSn

aesirable for many small businesses and manufacturing concerns.

=h™Icte?Led"tS''dU«1ct. The

photographic materials-were all represented in the district Ru^inpLo:
n:irfac?oJy" ^cigS^laSo^'' "“eir construction intltSei r
T-oJ^o-f 1 ^ • Cigar factory, several newspaper print shops, wholesale and

groceries, a photographic materials company, a candy factory and an 
g manufacturing concern. Hull-Grummond Company, housed at 218-24 Water 

Street, was one of the principal cigar manufacturers in the city at a time 
when Binghamton was one of the largest cigar production centers in the 
country. Anthony and Scoville Company, located at 229-31 State Street was 
a pioneer firm in the manufacture of photographic supplies; it incorporated 
first as ANSCO and eventually reorganized as CAF. The Republican Building 
at 23 Henry Street housed the Binghamton Republican, which published a 
newspaper in the city from 1822 until 1912. In the late nineteenth century 
a,state armpry was located at 202-04 and 206-08 State Street. A 1901 citv

bhe area;l80
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"plvimber, cigarmaker, Ixamber” were the listings at 205-07 State Street; 
at 215-19 State Street were confectioners and the G & E Electric and 
Construction Company; and a metal works was at 229-31 State Street.

Light industries and industrial supply stores dominated the area 
through 1935. During the early 1930s, two of the city's few remaining 
cigar companies were located at 213 State Street and 218-24 Water Street.
A book bindery, a paperbox company, an electrical supply shop, a coal 
company and a fixture shop were some of the typical concerns housed in the 
district during this period. Several buildings housed storage and moving 
companies. About this time one of the area's largest turn-of-the century 
brick buildings, the Strong Block on the northwest corner of Henry and 
State Streets, was demolished, and in 1935 the post office and courthouse 
was constructed on its site. After 1935, many similar brick blocks outside 
the district along Water and Washington Streets were demolished, suggesting 
a substantial decline in manufacturing and business in the area toward the em 
of the Great Depression. By 1950, storage facilities, auto shops and moving 
companies accounted for almost a dozen of the area's remaining businesses.

Architectural focal points of the historic district include significant 
examples of national architectural styles popular through the district's 
period of significance. The earliest extant buildings in the district are 
typically built of brick and designed in variations of the commercial 
Romanesque style. These include the 1888 warehouse building at 196-200 State 
Street, featuring round-arch arcading and a corbelled cornice, the 1890 
Republican Building at 23 Henry Street, combining arcaded facades with richly 
detailed cast-iron columns and terra-cotta pilaster capitals, and the 
building at 180 State Street, built c. 1890 and featuring cut stone window

arabesque terra-cotta spandrels. The former state armory complex 
at 202-208 State Street, begun in 1881, illustrates a variation of the 
Romanesque style popular for late nineteenth century military buildings with 
Its buttresquewalls, relieving arches, and castellated roofline composed 
of towers, finials and crenellations.

The Queen Anne style, popular during the last two decades of the 
nineteenth century, is represented by 217-219 Washington Street, built in 
1887. The design illustrates several salient features of the style, 
particularly the use of elliptical shapes for relieving arches, varied 
textures and materials in the exterior masonry, a picturesque roofline 
crowned by ornate finials, and window transoms filled with small panes 
colored glass. Neoclassicism is expressed by several buildings in the 
built after 1900 and is best represented by the 1906 portion of the Hull- 
Grummond complex at 218-224 Water Street, designed with a rusticated stone 
first story, balanced upper story facades with brick walls and stone detailing 
and a denticulated cornice. The six-story Gaylord Building at 229-231 State 
Street, built in 1902-1904, also illustrates the influence of classicism in

of
distric
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commercial design, featuring a rusticated stone first story, a Renaissance 
style corner entrance and a modillion-supported cornice. The alternating 
light and dark color banding of the upper story facades represents an 
unusual but highly distinctive architectural treatment which embellishes the 
otherwise utilitarian fenestration.

Architectural developments of the 1930's are represented in the design 
of the 1935 United States Post Office and Courthouse Building at 15 Henry 
Street. The monumental limestone building features the symmetry and massing 
characteristic of Neoclassical design and is sparingly detailed with a 
Greek key motif frieze and Art Deco style window bays and entrances. The 
building retains excellent architectural integrity and expresses the simplicit 
monumentality and quality materials typical of federal government constructic 
during the New Deal era.

The State Street/Henry Street Historic District depicts an intact group c 
buildings representative of Binghamton's late nineteenth and early twentieth 
century industrial prosperity and regional commerce. Once a portion of the 
large area of similar brick commercial blocks which extended from Chenango 
Street to the Chenango River, the district remains today as a unique 
collection of industrial and commercial architecture in the city. Although 
several of the contributing buildings in the State and Henry Streets Historic 
District exhibit insensitive street level alterations, almost all of the 
buildings retain a substantial degree of detail and character from the period 
of significance.^ Recently, some rehabilitative measures have been taken in 
the area: exterior facades of several buildings have been sensitively restore
(most notably at 218-24 Water Street, 217-19 Washington Street and 180 State 
Street) and residential units and offices have been designed for interiors. 
Stylistic diversity is readily apparent and is counterbalanced by a smilarity 
of scale, materials, and character throughout the district. Recognition of 
Its architectural significance through National Register listing is expected 
to reinforce ongoing public and private efforts to preserve and rehabilitate 
the district for commercial and residential use.
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Category Ownership 
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Accessible

Present Use

4. Owner of Property
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6. Representation in Existing Surveys 

Has this property been determined eligible? ED yes ED no

7. Description

Condition 
ED exceilent 
ED good 
ED fair

ED deteriorated 
ED ruins 
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Check one 
ED unaltered 
ED altered

Check one
ED original site 
ED moved date.

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

ED summary paragraph 
ED completeness 
ED clarity
ED alterations/integrity 
ED dates
ED boundary selection



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance-Check and justify below

Specific dates Builder/Architect
Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

□ summary paragraph
□ completeness
□ clarity
ED applicable criteria 
ED justification of areas checked 
ED relating significance to the resource 
ED context
ED relationship of integrity to significance 
ED justification of exception 
ED other

9. Major Bibliographical References
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Acreage of nominated property 
Quadrangle name 
UTM References
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11. Form Prepared By

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification
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nationai state local
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□ Other
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1. Name
historic

and or common State Street/Henry Street Historic District

2. Location
street & number Multiple addresses not for publication

city, town Binghamton . vicinity of

state New York code 036 county Broome code 007

3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
X district public X occupied ----- agriculture museum

building(s) private unoccupied X commercial park
structure X both work in progress educational private residence
site Public Acquisition Accessible entertainment religious
object NA in process __ yes: restricted X government scientific

being considered -X- yes: unrestricted industrial transportation
no military other:

4. Owner of Property
name Various

street & number

city, town . vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. County Clerk, Broome County Office Building 

street & number Governmental Complex. Hawley Street

city, town Binghamton state New York

6. Representation in Existing Surveys
title New York Statewide Inventory t'as this property been determined eligible?

date 1985 . federal _K state ___county local

depository for survey records wys Divi.qinn frvr Historic Preservation

cHy, town Albany state New York



7. Description
Condition Check one Check one

excellent ___ deteriorated unaitered _X_ originai site
good ruins ^ aitered moved date NA

X fair unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The State Street/Henry Street Historic District is situated several 
blocks north of Binghamton's central business district in an area long 
characterized by small manufacturing and commercial establishments. The 
district incorporates 20 contributing buildings, two non-contributing 
buildings and no structures or sites. The majority of the contributing 
buildings were built in the late nineteenth or early twentieth century for 
commercial purposes. All but two are built of brick with an average height 
of four stories.

The boundary of the historic district encloses the only concentration of 
historic buildings remaining between the central business district and the 
railroad terminal area to the north. The district incorporates historic 
streetscapes primarily along State Street and Henry Street, and in plan forms 
a reversed."L” The south boundary runs along Henry Street and separates 
the district from large parking lots and a modern shopping mall. Christ Churct 
(NR listed) at 187 Washington Street stands on a visually isolated lot, 
separated from the district by Henry Street to the north and parking lots to 
the east and west. The east boundary commences at 23 Henry Street and con­
tinues primarily along rear lot lines of State Street properties to the 
northern lot line of the State Armory (206-08 State Street), including an 
almost continuous block of intact commercial/industrial structures. Outside 
the district to the east are numerous small parking lots and small, non-

The west boundary follows the rear lot lines of the intact 
buildings on tne west side of State Street between Henry and Lewis Streets. 
Outside the district to the west is a lower density mix of commercial and 
residential structures, many of which are non-historic. The western lep of 
the district follows the curb and lot lines of the Henry Street buildings as 
tar as Water Street and includes two adjacent structures which front on Water 
and Washington Streets respectively. West of this boundary is a large vacant 
block along the Chenango River. Large vacant lots and parking lots also lie 
to the north of the Water and Washington Street district buildings.

All but one of the district's twenty-two buildings are of masonry-- 
primarily brick--construction. The oldest building in the district, at 201-03 
State Street, is of frame construction, originally with a clapboard facade.' 
One of the district's architectural focal points, the U.S. ~Post Office and 
Courthouse, at 15 Henry Street, features a limestone exterior.. Eighteen 
of the remaining structures have brick facades, many with stone or wood trim.
A few retain cast-iron storefronts such as the Republican Building at 23 Henry 
Street and the industrial block at 215-17 State Street. Almost half of the 
buildings are four stories tall; most others are one to three stories. 
Approximately half of the contribuing buildings in the district were built 
between 1876 and 1900 with the remaining half dating from 1900 to 1935.
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The district originally supported a mix of industrial and commercial 
enterprises. The Hull-Grummond Building at 218-24 Water Street, for instance, 
housed a cigar manufacturing firm; the RepuhLican.Building at 23 Henry Street 
housed a newspaper; and the Brown Building at 217-19 Washington Street housed 
a fruit and produce store. Three buildings in the district were constructed 
to house government facilities: the State Amnory at 206-08 State Street, the
Armory Annex at 202-04 State Street and the Post Office and Courthouse at 
15 Henry Street. Today, many of the buildings function primarily as vcarehouses 

with some office and commercial space. At least two have apartments on upper 
stories. One of the buildings, the Post Office and Courthouse, retains 
government offices of federal agencies.

The greatest concentration of historic buildings within the historic 
district occurs along both sides of State Street between Henry and Lewis 
Streets. Many of these buildings illustrate variations of the Romanesque style 
commercial architecture of the 1880's and 1890's, particularly along the east 
side of the street. At the lower end of the street, no. 178, built c. 1890, 
illustrates a modest example of the type, featuring its original cast-iron 
storefront, round-arched upper story windows and corbelled cornice. The 
four-story building next door at no. 180 State Street, built c. 1890, is a 
particularly sophisticated example of the style, featuring cut stone arches, 
a pedimented parapet and arabesque terra-cotta spandrels. No. 194-196, built 
in 1888, features a four-story, six-bay arcaded facade with cast-iron 
colonnettes at the first story and an extensively corbelled parapet, bearing 
the building's date of construction in raised numerals. Adjacent and north 
is the former state armory complex at 202-208 State Street, built between 1881 
and 1891 and designed in a castellated Romanesque style featuring round and 
segmentally arched windows, corbelled towers and crenellated parapets.

The west side of State Street incorporates a modest frame store and 
apartment building at No. 201-203, which, despite the application of modern 
siding materials, retains the massing, fenestration and cornice detailing of 
its c. 1880 date of construction. This is followed by the unaltered facades of 
two four-story coimercial buildings built in 1913 and located at 205-213 State 
Street. These buildings retain their original storefronts and incorporate 
distinctive, continuously glazed second stories. The upper stories are built 
of brick with a variety of rectangular, round and segmentally arched windows, 
with bays defined by pilasters and sheet metal cornices. The building north 
of this row at 215-219 State Street, built c. 1890, is sdjnilar in scale and 
massiiig and detailed with its original cast-iron storefront, cut stone lintels 
and sills, and corbelled brick cornice. This is followed by a contributing 
single story commercial building at no. 221-223, built in 1928 and detailed 
with Neoelassical motifs executed in terra cotta. The block is anchored at 
the north end by the six-story Gaylord Building and its attached garage at 
229-231 State Street, built in 1902-1904 in a modified Beaux-Arts style with 
Renaissance details and light and dark-colored brick banding.

/
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Buildings along the north side of Henry Street between State and Water 
Streets reflect the entire period of significance for the historic district. 
Proceeding from east to west, the streetscape begins with the five-story 
Republican Building at No. 23, built in the Romanesque style in 1890. The 
facades features the arcading typical of the style and a corner tower which 
rises to a sixtn story but which has lost its pyramidal roof. A modern 
storefront has been applied to part of the origiiial storefront; however, the 
original decorative cast-iron columns have survived the renovations. The 
monumental Federal Building and Courthouse at 15 Henry Street, (formerly the 
U.S. Post Office and Courthouse Building), was built in 1935 of smooth-faced 
limestone in a style inspired by the massing and symmetry of ifeoclassical 
architecture and detailed with a combination of classical and Art Deco motifs. 
Visible from Henry Street, but fronting upon Washington is the Queen Anne 
style four-story commercial building at 217-219 Washington built in 1887, 
featuring rock-faced stone impost blocks and lintels, elliptical brick 
relieving arches and an elaborate, finial-crowned parapet. At the west end, 
the district streetscape is anchored by three connected four and five-story 
buildings listed at 218-224 Water Street. The group begins with an extensively 
corbelled brick commercial building fronting upon Water Street and built in 
1886. The Neoclassical style brick and limestone buildings fronting upon 
Henry Streer were built in 1906 and 1914 and contixiue the earlier tradition of 
masonry craftsmanship evident throughout the district.

The majority of the buildings that compose the State and Henry Streets 
Historic District are unified by a similarity of character, scale, material 
and detail. Additionally, several of the district's most outstanding 
structures are situated on corner lots and serve as architectural anchors as 
well as tangible boundary termination points: the Republican Building (23 Henry
Street) at the corner of Henry and State, the Gaylord Building (229-31 State 
Street) at the corner of Lewis and State, and the Hull-Grummond complex (at 
218-24 Water Street) at the corner of Water and Henry. Although several of the 
buildings have been altered, most alterations have been limited to first story 
facades and are reversible. Several outstanding structures have been 
sensitively rehabilitated for use as offices, residential units and a variety 
of commercial concerns. A description of each building within the historic 
district is included in the annotated list of structures which follows.





Item Wo, Address Photos 
Nos.

8 202-204 State Street 7

206-208 State Street 8

201-203 State Street 9

205-207 State Street 9

209-213 State Street 9

215-219 State Street 10

.1
II?i

Date of 
Construction

C.1890

C.1881

C.1880

C.1913

C.1913

C.1390

Description Item 7 page 5

Two-story castellated Romanesque style 
armory building with round and segnental- 
ly arched openings, corbelled parapets 
and crenellated tower.

Three-story, brick Romanesque style 
armory building with monitor roof, a 
tower with battlements and extensive 
brick corbelling. The building is 
largely intact but has suffered some 
first floor alterations.

Three-story frame commercial building 
with simple wooden cornice, altered 
storefront and aluminum siding.

Four-story brick commercial building 
with intact storefront, continuously 
glazed second story, and round and 
rectangular upper story windows. Metal 
cornice bearing the name "A.L. Willey 
1913" in raised letters and numerals.

Four-story brick commercial building 
of nine bays in width with largely 
unaltered storefronts, continuously 
glazed second story and segmentally 
arched second story windows. Metal
cornrce.
Excellent example of late nineteenth 
century brick industrial/commercial 
block. The building is four stories 
in height and is separated into three 
structural bays. The structure once 
housed a scale v7orks and a candy factory 
(today used for storage). The facade 
is in good condition and the upper 
stories are highlighted with corbelled 
brickwork. Windows and doors on the 
first floor have been partially boarded 
over in recent years; however, the 
cast-iron columns remain intact.



Item Wo, Address Photos 
Nos.

Date of 
Construction

221-223 State Street 11 C.1928

229-231 State c.1902-1904

15 Henry Street C.1935

23 Henry Street ' 14 C.1390

18

19

211 Washington 16
Street

217-219 Washington 15

C.1955

C.1887

Description Item 7 page 6

Single-story, office and garage 
building with terra-cotta piers, 
entablature and a brick parapet with 
terra cotta-detailed panels. Openings 
altered with wood siding.

Six-story brick commercial building 
with stone-faced first story and upper 
stories faced in alternating light 
and dark color brick bands. Segmental 
and rectangular window openings with 
keystone details. Renaissance style 
corner entrance and metal cornice. 
Non-contributing single story garage 
attached at south side.

Three-story limestone building 
characterized by symmetrical facades 
and monumental proportions. Its mass­
ing and details reflect the influence 
of the Neoclassical and Art Deco styles 
The building was originally constructed 
for use as the United States Post Office 
and Courthouse (now the Federal Building 
and Courthouse). The interior and 
exterior of the building are both in 
excellent condition.

Five-story, Romanesque style brick 
building with arcaded facades and 
partially altered first story. Six- 
story-high corner tower, partially 
dismantled in 1973.

Non-contributing former service station 
building.

Four-story Queen Anne style brick 
commercial building with rock-faced 
stone sills, lintels and impost blocks, 
elliptical brick relieving arches and 
a finialcrowned parapet. First 
occupancy recorded as John Brown Fruit 
and Produce Company.



Item Wo. Address Photos 
Nos.

Date of 
Construction

Description Item 7 page 7

20, 21,22 218-224 Water Street 17 1886-1914 A three-building complex originally 
occupied by the Hull-Grummond Cigar 
Company. First building (facing Water 
Street) was built in 1886 with an 
elaborate corbelled brick facade four 
stories in height with a stepped 
parapet. Second four-story building 
(corner of Water and Henry Streets) 
was built in 1906 in a modified 
Neoclassical style with a rusticated 
limestone first story and brick upper 
stories with stone trim and a 
denticulated stone cornice. Third 
building (facing Henry Street) was 
built in 1914 and stands five stories 
in height with a stone-trimmed brick 
facade.
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8. Significance
Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ___community planning ____ landscape architecture. religion
1400-1499 archeology-historic ___conservation ___ law science
1500-1599 ___agriculture ___economics ___ literature sculpture
1600-1699 JL. architecture _ education military social/
1700-1799 ___art .....engineering music humanitarian

JL 1800-1899 commerce - . exploration/settlement philosophy theater
1900- communications industry politics/government transportation

___ invention other (specify)

Specific dates 1877-1935 Builder/Architect none known

statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The State Street/Henry Street Historic District is architecturally 
significant as an intact and cohesive enclave of commercial, industrial 
and institutional buildings built between 1877 and 1935, which reflects a 
period of growth and prosperity in Binghamton made possible by the 
expansion of rail transportation in the last quarter of the nineteenth 
century. Buildings in the historic district represent a cross-section 
of the city's historic manufacturing and commercial interests and 
illustrate^through significant and intact examples, historic architectural 
styles ranging from Romanesque to Art Deco. Overall, the district is 
characterized by a uniformity of scale and construction techniques, the 
survival of uninterrupted streetscapes from the period of significance, 
and by the high levels of architectural integrity present in the majority 
of its buildings.

The area encompassed by the boundaries of the historic district was 
initially organized around the Chenango Canal, which followed the present 
path of State Street. Constructed between 1833 and 1837, the canal was 
employed principally for the transportation of goods and people during 
a period prior to rail development. The canal was 97 miles long and linked 
Binghamton to Utica, New York, where the Erie Canal provided further 
regional access. It passed through such communities as Chenango Bridge, 
Greene, Norwich, Earlville, Eaton and Clinton, nearly following the 
course New York State Routes 12 and 12B follow today. The Susquehanna 
and Chenango Rivers had been used for transportation prior to the 1830's: 
in 1813 the New York State Legislature had declared the Susquehanna a 
"public highway" (Seward, v.l, p. 74). The canal, however, offered a 
much more regular and reliable transportation line. It strengthened 
Binghamton's position as the center of regional transportation and com­
merce and prompted further expansion in those directions. Access to 
the canal prompted farmers, for instance, to produce and export dairy 
products such as butter, which would have spoiled during longer journeys.

The location of the canal as well as the proximity of the downtown 
center served as the impetus for the initial development in and around 
the district. As early as 1847, Waring Weed built a flour mill at 
206-08 State Street where the State Armory was later built (Seward, v.2, 
p. 405). An 1866 map of the area indicates that a number of liveries and 
other frame structures were clustered around the canal while a variety 
of mills were located west of the historic district near the Chenango 
River. The 1873 Bird's Eye View of Binghamton shows further development
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near the canal: about half of the dozen buildings adjacent to the canal appear
to have faced directly on the waterway, and half were outbuildings relating 
to and facing larger structures on Washington Street. Construction here 
and elsewhere in the city swelled during this period. Binghamton's 
population doubled (from 2000 to 4000) between 1840 and 1850 and more 
than doubled in the following decade.

Rail transportation was inaugurated in Binghamton with the arrival of 
the Erie Railroad in 1848, and in the following decades rail connections to 
and from the city expanded significantly. Relative to the railroads, the 
canal was obsolete. In 1872 the state legislature authorized the abandonment 
of the canal between the end of Prospect Avenue and the rivers for re-use 
as a city street. The entire canal was closed in 1877. This provided 
the impetus for the construction of a second generation of buildings along 
this well established corridor. The new access provided by State Street, 
which replaced the canal, prompted the construction of buildings which lined 
and faced the street. An 1885 map shows the first of these new structures-- 
the New York State Armory at 206-08 State Street. An 1891 map depicts 
many of the buildings which remain on the block today and docioments the 
tremendous change and growth which occurred on the street between 1885 and 
1891. The spurt of growth which took place here was consistent with the 
expansion experienced cit3rwide during the same period. Binghamton's 
population surged from 17,000 to 35,000 between 1880 and 1890, its largest 
increase in any decade of the city's history. Proximity to the railroad 
yards just north of the district made this location convenient and 
desirable for many small businesses and manufacturing concerns.

According to city directories, a mix of commercial and industrial 
concerns, including a wide variety of shops, characterized the district. The 
city's typical small business concerns, such as groceries and provision shops^ 
its major industry--cigar making—and a later industry--the manufacture of 
photographic materials--were all represented in the district. Businesses 
housed in the buildings around the time of their construction included a 
nail factory, a cigar factory, several newspaper print shops, wholesale and 
retail groceries, a photographic materials company, a candy factory and an 
organ manufacturing concern. Hull-Grummond Company, housed at 218-24 Water 
Street, was one of the principal cigar manufacturers in the city at a time 
when Binghamton was one of the largest cigar production centers in the 
country. Anthony and Scoville Company, located at 229-31 State Street, was 
a pioneer firm in the manufacture of photographic supplies; it incorporated 
first as ANSCO and eventually reorganized as CAP. The Republican Building 
at 23 Henry Street housed the Binghamton Republican, which published a 
newspaper in the city from 1822 until 1912. In the late nineteenth century 
a state armory was located at 202-04 and 206-08 State Street. A 1901 city 
directory lists the many smaller and more typical businesses in the area; 180 
State Street housed a provisions shop;
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"plumber, cigarmaker, Ixamber" were the listings at 205-07 State Street; 
at 215-19 State Street were confectioners and the G & E Electric and 
Construction Company; and a metal works was at 229-31 State Street.

Light industries and industrial supply stores dominated the area 
through 1935. During the early 1930s, two of the city's few remaining 
cigar companies were located at 213 State Street and 218-24 Water Street.
A book bindery, a paperbox company, an electrical supply shop, a coal 
company and a fixture shop were some of the typical concerns housed in the 
district during this period. Several buildings housed storage and moving 
companies. About this time one of the area's largest turn-of-the century 
brick buildings, the Strong Block on the northwest corner of Henry and 
State Streets, was demolished, and in 1935 the post office and courthouse 
was constructed on its site. After 1935, many similar brick blocks outside 
the district along Water and Washington Streets were demolished, suggesting 
a substantial decline in manufacturing and business in the area toward the end 
of the Great Depression. By 1950, storage facilities, auto shops and moving 
companies accounted for almost a dozen of the area's remaining businesses.

Architectural focal points of the historic district include significant 
examples of national architectural styles popular through the district's 
period of significance. The earliest extant buildings in the district are 
typically built of brick and designed in variations of the commercial 
Romanesque style. These include the 1888 warehouse building at 196-200 State 
Street, featuring round-arch arcading and a corbelled cornice, the 1890 
Republican Building at 23 Henry Street, combining arcaded facades with richly 
detailed cast-iron columns and terra-cotta pilaster capitals, and the 
building at 180 State Street, built c. 1890 and featuring cut stone window 
arches and arabesque terra-cotta spandrels. The former state armory complex 
at 202-208 State Street, begun in 1881, illustrates a variation of the 
Romanesque style popular for late nineteenth century military buildings with 
its buttresquewalls, relieving arches, and castellated roofline composed 
of towers, finials and crenellations.

The Queen Anne style, popular during the last two decades of the 
nineteenth century, is represented by 217-219 Washington Street, built in 
1887. The design illustrates several salient features of the style, 
particularly the use of elliptical shapes for relieving arches, varied 
textures and materials in the exterior masonry, a picturesque roofline 
crowned by ornate finials, and window transoms filled with small panes of 
colored glass. Neoclassicism is expressed by several buildings in the district 
built after 1900 and is best represented by the 1906 portion of the Hull- 
Grvimmond complex at 218-224 Water Street, designed with a rusticated stone 
first story, balanced upper story facades with brick walls and stone detailing, 
and a denticulated cornice. The six-story Gaylord Building at 229-231 State 
Street, built in 1902-1904, also illustrates the influence of classicism in
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□ good
□ fair

I I deteriorated
□ ruins
□ unexposed

Check one
□ unaltered
□ altered

Check one 
□ original site
I I moved date

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

Cl summary paragraph 
Cl completeness 
Q clarity
□ alterations/integrity
□ dates
r~l boundary selection



.d. Significance
'k>

''^Period Areas of Significance-Check and justify below

Specific dates Builder/Architect
Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

O summary paragraph 
0 completeness
□ clarity
CH applicable criteria
□ Justification of areas checked
O relating significance to the resource
□ context
O relationship of integrity to significance 
O justification of exception
□ other

/

9. Major Bibliographical References

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 
Quadrangle name 
UTM References

Verbal boundary description and justification

11. Form Prepared By

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification
The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

national state local

State Historic Preservation Officer signature 

title date

13. Other

CH Maps 
□ Photographs 
n Other

Questions concerning this nomination may be directed to.

Signed. Date Phone:

*?. GPO 918-450

Comments for any item may be continued on an attached sheet









































































O^ir* L»nm*n Ccnmission0f
3 NCW VOM STATf

N«w Yoi1( SUI* OHtca of Parks, Racraation and Historic Praaarvatlon
The Governor Nelson A Rockefeller Empire State Plaza 
Agency Building i Albany. New York 12238

November 6, 1985
518-474-0456

J. Walter Roth, PCS 
Director of Historic Preservation 
General Services Admin. 
Washington, D.C. 20405

Dear Mr. Roth:

State Street/Henry Street 
Historic District 
15-23 Henry Street;
172-208, 201-231 State Street; 
213-214 Washington Avenue; 
218-224 Water Street, 
Binghamton, Broome County

We are pleased to inform you that the property noted above will 
be considered by the Committee on the Registers of the New York 
State Board for Historic Preservation for nomination to the National 
and State Registers of Historic Places. The National Register .a&d 
the State Register are the federal and state governments' official 
lists of historic properties worthy of preservation. Listing in 
the Registers provides recognition and assistance in preserving our 
national, state, and local heritage. Enclosed is a copy of the 
criteria under which properties are evaluated.

Listing in the National Register provides the following 
benefits to historic properties;

-- Consideration in the planning for federally assisted projects. 
Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 
provides that the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation 
be given an opportunity to comment on projects affecting such 

I properties.

-- Eligibility for federal tax provisions. If a property is
listed in the National Register certain Federal tax provisions 
may apply. The Tax Reform Act of 1984 revises the historic 
preservation tax incentives authorized by Congress in the 
Tax Reform Act of 1976, the Revenue Act of 1978, the Tax 
Treatment Extension Act of 1980, and the Economic Recovery 
Tax Act of 1981, which provide for a 25 percent investment 
tax credit for rehabilitating historic commercial, industrial 
and rental residential buildings instead of a IS or 20 percent 
credit available for rehabilitation of non-historic buildings 
more than thirty years old. This can be combined with an 
18-year cost recovery period for the adjusted basis of the 
building. Certified structures with certified rehabilitations 
receive additional tax savings because o.wners are allowed to 
reduce the basis by one half the amount of the credit. The 
Tax Treatment Extension Act of 1980 provides Federal tax 
deductions for charitable contributions for conservation 
purposes of partial interests in historically important land 
areas or structures. For further information please refer 
to 36 CFR 67.

Consideration of historic values in the decision to issue a 
surface coal mining permit where coal is located, in accord 
with the Surface Mining and Control Act of 1977.

Qualification for federal grants for historic preservation 
when funds are available.

Projects affecting properties listed in the National Register 
or recommended for listing by the Committee on the Registers 
of the State Board for Historic Preservation are considered 
Type I actions subject to the notice requirements of Section 
617 of the New York State Environmental Quality Review Act.

J IM I p



the following benefitsto historic properties:

There are no provisions in the New York State 
th"rstItrRegJster"’’of Historic

_D_ecember5'‘’!985'’"* V .Comments n.«st be received by
U^mmxttee on the Registers next m^Htng -t the

offic^ anrcarbe Proposed nomination is on file in this
inforLt-fn^^gl^Lr^^ntl^t^-^-kt.^^^ —-
Parks^'^Recreatioi** Bureau, New York State Office of
Rockefel!« Emnir .t Preservation, Governor Nelson A.
(518) 474-0479!^ Plara. Albany, New York, 12238,

Sincerely,

1nissioner 
State Historic Preservation 

Officer

Enc.
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0O NEW YORK STATE
Orin Lehman Commissioner

New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation
The Governor Nelson A. Rockefeller Empire State Plaza 
Agency Building 1, Albany, New York 12238 518-474-0456

Carol Shull 
National Register of 
Historic Places 

National Park Service 
1100 L Street, NW 
Room 6209
Washington, DC 20240

June 12, 1986

RE; State Street/Henry Street 
Historic District 

Binghamton, Broome Co.
New York

Dear Carol,

Enclosed is the nomination for the State Street-Henry Street 
Historic District, Binghamton, Broome County, New York, which 
we are resubmitting along with copies of our correspondence with 
appropriated federal agencies as per your request.

Sincerely,

Larry E. Gobrecht 
National Register and 
Survey Coordinator 

Historic Preservation 
Field Services Bureau

Enc.

An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Agency

JUN I 8 1986


